
AGENDA 
 
 
 
 
 

Special Planning Commission Meeting 
Thursday, November 16, 2023  7:00 p.m. 

 

LOCATION:  Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road  Auburn Hills, MI 

 

PHONE: 248-364-6900  www.auburnhills.org 
Meeting minutes are on file in the City Clerk’s office. 

 
 
1. MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL OF PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
3. PERSONS WISHING TO BE HEARD (regarding items not on the agenda) 

 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - September 13, 2023 

 
5. PETITIONERS 

 
5a. AM General 

PART ONE – Public Hearing / Motion – Recommendation to City Council for Special Land Use Permit approval for 
the outside storage of vehicles on the east side of the building 
 
PART TWO – Public Hearing / Motion – Recommendation to City Council for Revised Special Land Permit approval 
for the outside storage of vehicles, containers, and trailers on the south side of the building 
 

5b. 3295 Lapeer Road West Industrial Building 
Public Hearing / Motion – Recommendation to City Council for Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit approval to 
construct a light industrial building 
 

6. OLD BUSINESS – None 
 

7. NEW BUSINESS – None 
 

8. COMMUNICATIONS 
 

9. NEXT SCHEDULED MEETING – Wednesday, December 6, 2023 at 6:30 p.m. – Auburn Hills Community Center 
 

10. ADJOURNMENT   
 NOTE: Anyone planning to attend the meeting who has need of special assistance under the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk's Office at 248-370-9402 or the City Manager's Office at 248-370-9440 48 hours prior to the 
meeting.  Staff will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements.  

 
 

 
 
 

IMPORTANT NOTICE TO PETITIONERS 
Items will be presented to the City Council on Monday, December 4, 2023. It will be necessary for 
you to have a representative present to answer any questions from the City Council.  CITY COUNCIL 
WILL NOT ACT ON YOUR ITEM IF YOU OR YOUR REPRESENTATIVE ARE NOT PRESENT. 

http://www.auburnhills.org/


CITY OF AUBURN HILLS  
PLANNING COMMISSION  

MINUTES 
NOT YET APPROVED 

 
CALL TO ORDER:  Chairperson Ouellette called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL: Present: Carolyn Shearer, Dominick Tringali, Cynthia Pavlich, Brian Marzolf, Chauncey 

Hitchcock, Greg Ouellette 
 Absent:  Sam Beidoun, Ray Saelens, Laura Ochs 

Also Present:  Director of Community Development Steve Cohen, City Planner Shawn Keenan 
 Guests: 7 
 
LOCATION:  City Council Chambers, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI  48326 
 
3.   PERSONS WISHING TO BE HEARD 
 
4.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES – August 9, 2023 
 
Moved by Hitchcock to approve the minutes of August 9, 2023. 
Second by Tringali. 
VOTE: Yes: Pavlich, Shearer, Tringali, Hitchcock, Marzolf, Ouellette 
 No: None         Motion Carried (6-0) 
 
5. PETITIONERS 
 
5a.   Five Points Community Church (7:01 p.m.) 
PART ONE - Public Hearing/Motion – Recommendation to City Council for approval of rezoning from R-4, 
One Family Residential and RM-1, Multiple Family Residential (Low Rise) to B-2, General Business District, 
or any other appropriate zoning district.  
 
PART TWO - Public Hearing/Motion – Recommendation to City Council for Special Land Use Permit, Site 
Plan, and Tree Removal Permit approvals to construct a building addition. 
 
Mr. Keenan explained that this is a request from Cunningham-Limp Company on behalf of Five Points Community 
Church, located at 3411 E. Walton Boulevard, requesting the rezoning of the portions of their property and for the 
construction of a 10,220 sq. ft. building addition.   
 
PART ONE - REZONING REQUEST  

Five Points Community Church is requesting approval to rezone the northwest corner of their parcel zoned RM-1, 
Multiple Family Residential (Low Rise) District, and the eastern portion of their parcel zoned R-4, One Family 
Residential District to B-2, General Business District.  The rezoning would result in the entire parcel having the same 
zoning designation of B-2, General Business District, bringing the corner site more in line with the City Master Land 
Use Plan’s Non-Residential Land Use Classification.  

The adopted City of Auburn Hills Master Land Use Plan depicts the northeast corner as “Non-Residential land use.” 
Therefore, we recommend approval of the rezoning from R-4, One Family Residential District, and RM-1, Multiple 
Family Residential (Low Rise) District to B-2, General Business District, based on the Master Land Use Plan.  
 

PART TWO - SITE PLAN APPROVAL  

This is a request from Five Points Community Church to construct a 10,220 sq. ft. building expansion to their existing 
building located at 3411 E. Walton Boulevard.  The site is 8.36 acres in size and zoned R-4, One-Family Residential, 
RM-1, Multiple-Family Residential, and B-2, General Business District.    

 

September 13, 2023 

 

  



Auburn Hills Planning Commission –September 13, 2023 
Page 2 of 4 
 
The plans call for the demolition of the existing multi-purpose wing of the building to make room for the expansion 
that includes a new nave, sanctuary, commons area, green room, usher room, restroom, cry room, and hallway.  
Once the proposed project is complete, the overall building size will equal 45,780 sq. ft.   

On March 19, 2018, Five Points Community Church completed its first expansion, which the City Council approved 
on March 27, 2017.  That plan accommodated this proposed addition’s anticipated parking and stormwater 
management needs.  Construction for this project is expected to begin in the spring of 2024, with completion taking 
place sometime in the winter of 2024.   

Nick Devlin and Sam Ashley, Cunningham Limp, 28970 Cabot Drive, Suite 100, Novi, MI  48377, and Tony 
Antone from Five Points Community Church were available to answer any questions of the Commission and 
presented the proposal.   

The Commission asked about the following: 

1. Is this the final expansion of the church; 
2. Does the design allow for flexibility of use in the future if necessary; 
3. Seating capacity; 
4. The location of the three parcels. 

Mr. Ashley explained that this is the last part of the church’s master plan that was designed years ago.  He also 
stated that the design could easily be adapted to any use that is compatible with the rezoning.  The facility has a 
seating capacity of 362 total.   

Mr. Keenan explained that the three parcels have been combined into a single parcel.  That single parcel has three 
different zoning designations.  Approval of the rezoning request would give the single parcel one zoning 
designation. 

Mr. Ouellette opened the public hearing for PART ONE at 7:13 p.m. 

There being no public comments, Mr. Ouellette closed the public hearing at 7:13 p.m. 

PART ONE: 
Moved by Hitchcock to recommend to City Council approval of the rezoning of the portions of parcel 14-12-
376-010 from R-4, One Family Residential District and RM-1, Multiple Family Residential (Low Rise) District 
to B-2, General Business District. 
Second by Tringali. 
VOTE: Yes:  Hitchcock, Tringali, Shearer, Marzolf, Pavlich, Ouellette  
 No:    None         Motion Carried (6-0) 

Mr. Ouellette opened the public hearing for PART TWO at 7:16 p.m. 

There being no public comments, Mr. Ouellette closed the public hearing at 7:16 p.m. 

PART TWO: 
Moved by Hitchcock to recommend to City Council approval of the Special Land Use Permit, Site Plan and 
Tree Removal Permit for Five Points Community Church subject to the conditions of the City’s 
Administrative Review Team. 
Second by Tringali. 

VOTE: Yes:  Hitchcock, Tringali, Shearer, Marzolf, Pavlich, Ouellette  
 No:    None         Motion Carried (6-0) 

5b. Pacific and Taylor – Light Industrial Speculative Building (aka Pacific Drive Industrial (7:19 p.m.) 
Public Hearing/Motion – Recommendation to City Council for Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit approvals 
to construct a light industrial building 
 
Mr. Keenan explained that this is a request from Pacific Drive Ventures, LLC, to construct a 47,728 sq. ft. Light 
Industrial building at the northeast corner of Pacific Drive and Taylor Road.  The 3.7-acre parcel is within the Metro 



Auburn Hills Planning Commission –September 13, 2023 
Page 3 of 4 
 
North Technology Park and zoned I-1, Light Industrial.  Approximately 4,880 sq. ft. of the building will be used as 
office space, and the remaining 42,848 sq. ft. will be utilized as manufacturing space.     
 
City Council approved plans for a 50,000 sq. ft. light industrial building back on February 27, 2017; however, that 
project never moved forward because the previous land owner could not secure a tenant. 

Once completed, Pacific Drive Ventures intends to lease the building to an industrial business compatible with the 
uses specified in the City’s Zoning Ordinance Light Industrial district.   

Construction is expected to begin in the spring of 2024, with completion in the summer of 2025. 

Christopher Cousino, Pacific Drive Ventures, LLC, 12955 23 Mile Road, Shelby Township, MI  48315 and Dave 
Hunter, PEA Group, 1849 Pond Run, Auburn Hills, MI  48326 were available to answer any questions of the 
Commission and presented the proposal.   
 
The Commission asked about the following: 

1. The type of tenant anticipated; 
2. Features of the building; 
3. Commitment to construction of the project; 
4. How the city can be more attractive to industrial developers; 
5. Adequacy of the water detention basin. 

Mr. Cousino stated that they anticipate the building to attract a light tech industrial user – possibly an automotive 
supplier, but will be flexible.  He also explained that the type of windows included in the design allow a lot of natural 
light.  They have also added a truck well, as well as two overhead bays with a door at grade. 

Mr. Cousino assured the Commission that they are committed to the project and expect it to attract a good tenant.  
PEA has already begun the process of securing permits, in order to begin construction as soon as possible.  He 
also explained that the detention basin was initially designed to handle the full development of the site.  They are 
also proposing a pre-treatment water filtration system. 

Mr. Cousino stated that tax incentives would increase the attractiveness of Auburn Hills to industrial developers. 

Mr. Ouellette opened the public hearing at 7:25 p.m. 

There being no public comments, Mr. Ouellette closed the public hearing at 7:25 p.m. 

Moved by Pavlich to recommend to City Council approval of the Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit for 
Pacific Drive Industrial Speculative Building subject to the conditions of the City’s Administrative Review 
Team. 
Second by Shearer. 
VOTE: Yes:  Pavlich, Shearer, Tringali, Marzolf, Hitchcock, Ouellette  
 No:    None         Motion Carried (6-0) 

6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None. 
 
7. NEW BUSINESS 

The October 3, 2023 Planning Commission meeting has been cancelled. 
 
8. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
8a. Age Friendly Community Conversation Meetings 
 

● Meeting 1 will be held on Thursday, September 28, 2023, from 6:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. in the Auburn Hills 
Community Center. 

● Meeting 2 will be held on Wednesday, October 11, 2023, from 6:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. at Avondale High 
School. 



Auburn Hills Planning Commission –September 13, 2023 
Page 4 of 4 
 
 
8b. Notice from the City of Troy regarding Master Plan Update 
The City of Troy has provided notice that they have prepared an update to their existing Master Plan.  This second 
notice initiates a 63-day comment period, which will conclude with a public hearing at an upcoming Planning 
Commission meeting. 
 
Mr. Marzolf thanked the Planning Commission for all their hard work on these complicated reviews.  He also stated 
that he would like to see the annual report of the Planning Commission provided to the City Council.  Mr. Keenan 
stated that the report will be on the next City Council agenda. 
 
Mr. Tringali asked if there would be any follow-up information from the previous study meeting.  Mr. Keenan 
explained that follow-up information will be provided at the December 6th study meeting of the Planning 
Commission. 
 
9. NEXT SCHEDULED MEETING 
 
The next scheduled meeting is on Wednesday, November 8, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers.   
 
10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, Chairperson Ouellette adjourned the meeting at 7:34 p.m.  
 
Submitted by: 
Susan McCullough, CMC, CMMC 
Recording Secretary 
 
 



 

   

 

MEETING DATE:  NOVEMBER 16, 2023 AGENDA ITEM NO 5a. 

 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

To:  Chairperson Greg Ouellette and the Planning Commission 
From: Steven J. Cohen, AICP, Director of Community Development 
Submitted: November 9, 2023 
Subject: AM General 

Public Hearing / Motion – Recommendation to City Council for Special Land Use Permit 
(Part One) and Revised Special Land Use Permit (Part Two) Approval for Outside Storage 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
This is a request from AM General for approval to revise and expand their existing Special Land Use Permit 
to allow the overnight storage of vehicles, containers, and trailers at their business located at 1399 Pacific 
Drive.  The facility serves as AM General's engineering, advanced technology, and prototype development 
center.  The property is zoned I-1, Light Industrial District.  Note: AM General’s request has been divided 
into two separate applications due to the expiration dates proposed for each outside storage area. 
 
HISTORY 
AM General received approval from the City 
Council to create an outside storage area for 
only military vehicles on May 22, 2017. The 
30,180-square-foot storage area is currently 
located on the south side of the building.  As 
part of the 2017 permit application, AM 
General installed an eight-foot-high vinyl 
fence along a portion of the south and east 
property lines, to screen the storage area 
from motorists traveling along Taylor Road, 
Pacific Drive, and I-75.      
 
REQUEST FROM AM GENERAL 
AM General’s request has two parts based on the growth of their business: 
Part One: A request for a new Special Land Use Permit to allow 25 R&D/test military vehicles to be added 

within the current screened fenced-in area on the east side of the building.  This permit is only 
being requested for the life of the test program, which is five years.  This new permit shall 
expire on November 20, 2028. 

Part Two: A request to amend the Special Land Use Permit previously approved by the City Council on 
May 22, 2017, to allow the storage of military vehicles, up to six (6) storage containers (8’W x 
20’L x 8’-6”H), and small vehicle tow trailers within the previously approved designated and 
screened outside storage area on the south side of the building. The storage containers shall 
be painted white without markings, or a light color approved by the Community Development 
Department.  This revised permit will only apply to AM General and shall expire if AM General 
vacates the building. 

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

Site Location 

SITE 



Page 2 
 
 
UPDATED PERMIT REQUEST (CONT.)  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Please be advised that this project has been reviewed by the City’s Administrative Site Plan Review 
Team and has received a recommendation for approval. 
 
We recommend Conditional Approval of the Special Land Use Permit request and offer the following 
discretionary findings of fact: 
1. The location of the use will not negatively impact adjacent areas, which are zoned non-residential. 
2. The land will be used in accordance with its immediate character, which is planned and zoned for non-

residential development.   
3. The requirements Section 1818 in the City’s Zoning Ordinance will be met. 
4. The use will promote the purpose and intent of the City’s Zoning Ordinance. 
5. The use will be consistent with the health, safety, and general welfare of the City of Auburn Hills, and 

purpose and intent of the City’s Zoning Ordinance 
6. The intent of Section 1807, Item 3 in the City’s Zoning Ordinance will be met. 
 
Conditions: 
1. The Special Land Use Permit for the east side of the building (Part One) shall expire on November 20, 

2028. 
2. The Revised Special Land Use Permit for the south side of the building (Part Two) will only apply to the 

building tenant AM General and shall expire if AM General vacates the building in the future.  



Page 3 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION (cont.) 
Conditions (cont.): 
3. AM General has agreed to increase the height of the existing eight-foot-high vinyl fence and gate in 

the section directly facing I-75 (shown in photo below) with a ten-foot-high vinyl fence and gate, along 
with adding two evergreen trees to improve the screening of the military test vehicles in that location. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
PART ONE 
“Move to recommend to City Council approval of the Special Land Use Permit for the outside storage of 
up to 25 R&D/test military vehicles for AM General on the east side of the building located at 1399 
Pacific Drive subject to the representations made by AM General, packet materials, and conditions of 
Mr. Cohen’s staff report.  The Special Land Use Permit shall expire on November 20, 2028.” 
 
PART TWO 
“Move to recommend to City Council approval of the Revised Special Land Use Permit for the outside 
storage of military vehicles, up to six (6) storage containers, and small vehicle tow trailers within the 
previously City approved area for AM General on the south side of the building located at 1399 Pacific 
Drive subject to the representations made by AM General, packet materials, and conditions of Mr. 
Cohen’s staff report. The Revised Special Land Use Permit will only apply to the building tenant AM 
General and shall expire if AM General vacates the building in the future.” 
 
 

View of the storage area looking south from I-75 

Screen fence section to be 
increased in height by two feet 
 

Plan view of improved screen area 







   

 

Planning Commission  
Public Notice 

 
 

Meeting Date, Time, and Location: 
 

Thursday, November 16, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 
City of Auburn Hills - Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 

Project Name: AM General 
 

General Property Location: 1399 Pacific Drive 
Sidwell No. 14-03-351-006 
 

Applicant: David McLane – 810-230-9311 
 

Nature of the Request: Recommendation to City Council for: 
Part One: Special Land Use Permit approval for the outside storage of 
vehicles on the east side of the building. 
Part Two:  Revised Special Land Permit approval for the outside storage 
of vehicles, containers, and trailers on the south side of the building. 
 

City Staff Contact: Steven J. Cohen, AICP 
Director of Community Development - 248-364-6900 
 

 

Notice will be sent via U.S. Mail to properties within 1,000 feet of the site.  The proposed application is 
available for inspection prior to the meeting at the Community Development Department, located in the 
municipal campus at 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326, during regular City business hours. 
 
Persons wishing to express their views may do so in person at the meeting or in writing addressed to the 
Planning Commission c/o Steven J. Cohen, AICP, Director of Community Development at the above address. 
 
Anyone planning to attend the meeting who has need of special assistance under the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk's Office at 248-370-9402 or the City Manager's Office 
at 248-370-9440 - 48 hours prior to the meeting.  Staff will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements. 
 

 

 
 











 
        4488  W E S T  BR I S T O L  R O A D  |  F L I N T  |  MI  |  48507   P H O N E :  [810]  230 -9311   F A X :  [810]  230 -2831 

 

1 

 
 
 
August 29, 2023 
 
 
City of Auburn Hills Zoning Department     Project 
Attn: Devin Lang, Community Development Director Assistant   AM General 
1827 North Squirrel Road       1399 Pacific Drive 
Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326       Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326  
 
RE: Screened Parking Lot Area Viewing. 
 
Mr. Lang: 
 
AMAG, LLC is submitting this analysis to address and help with understanding the existing building’s east screened 
parking space area as it pertains to the viewing time associated with traveling both north and south bound on I-75.  
In calculating the viewing time of the screened parking area, the distance associated with each traveling direction 
start and stop is delineated between the two red lines on the attached aerial.  The ability to view the screened parking 
area was determined by actually driving north and south bound I-75 in both a car and SUV.  Aerial maps and Google 
Earth were additionally utilized for visual and distance determination. 
 
Northbound I-75:  70mph x [1hr/3600sec] x [5280ft/mile] = 103ft/sec.  At roughly 970 feet of viewable travel distance, 
this equates to 970ft/103ft/sec = 9.4 seconds of viewing time. 
 
Southbound I-75:  70mph x [1hr/3600sec] x [5280ft/mile] = 103ft/sec.  At roughly 595 feet of viewable travel distance, 
this equates to 595ft/103ft/sec = 5.8 seconds of viewing time. 
 
For local travelers that pass by the facility on a regular or daily basis, the attention given to alertly noticing this 
screened parking area will most likely diminish as the repetitive frequency of travel occurs over time.  The ten foot 
high screening fence currently impedes the view of parked vehicles from traveling vehicles that pass by the property 
along I-75.  SUV and trucks on the northbound lanes of I-75 have a view of the screened parking and those riding in 
a car are sitting low enough that their views are blocked by the center concrete barrier that separate the northbound 
and southbound lanes. 
 
Please contact our office if there are any further questions or if additional information is needed.  Thank you in 
advance for your time and plan review. 
 
 
Respectfully, 

 
David McLane, AIA, NCARB    
Architect / Partner 
Cell: (810) 569-1082  
E-mail: dmclane@amagarch.com 

mailto:dmclane@amagarch.com




 

  

Technology and Engineering Center 
1399 Pacific Drive 
Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
www.amgeneral.com 
 
 

 

 

Dear Mr. Cohen, 

As requested by the City of Auburn Hills, I wrote a letter to include maps and pictures 
explaining our need to expand outside storage at 1399 Pacific Drive, Auburn Hill, MI 48326.  
 

On October 24, 2023, at 2:30 PM, I mailed 52 letters (to include AMG) from labels created 
and provided by your office. We at AM General haven’t heard from any of the 52 recipients (I 
received our letter Monday, October 30), so we’ve not responded to anyone regarding our 
request to expand outside storage. 

 
We look forward to the Planning Commission Meeting on Thursday, November 16 at 7:30 

PM. 
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Raymond R. Mann 

Raymond R. Mann 
Director – Vehicle Capabilities & System 
Integration 



The City of Auburn Hills 
City Council Meeting 
Minutes - EXCERPT 

May 22, 2017 
 

CALL TO ORDER: Mayor McDaniel at 7:00 p.m. 
LOCATION:  City Council Chamber, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 

Present: Mayor McDaniel, Council Members Burmeister, Hammond, Kittle, Knight, 
Mitchell, and Verbeke. 

    Absent: None 
Also Present: City Manager Tanghe, Assistant City Manager Grice, City Attorney 
Beckerleg, Police Chief Olko, Deputy Clerk Pierce, Assistant City Planner Keenan, 
Senior Services Director Adcock, DPW Director Melchert, Recreation Director 
Marzolf, Management Intern Thomas. 

   18 Guests  
 
9.   NEW BUSINESS 
9b. Motion - Approve Special Land Use Permit / AM General 
Mr. Keenan explained the request for the outside storage of vehicles.  The site is zoned I-1 Light Industrial 
and will serve as the home of their new engineering advanced technology and prototype development 
center where they will manufacture heavy duty military equipment and civilian vehicles.  The proposed 
outside storage area is approximately 30,000 square feet in size.  To ensure the fire lane remains clear, 
the boundaries of the storage area will be outlined with a two-foot wide black line.  It will also be striped 
with yellow paint and labeled “No Parking, Fire Lane”.  The storage area will be screened with an eight-foot 
high vinyl fence along the southern and eastern portion of the property line.  A letter was provided from the 
applicant that they would comply with all state and federal regulations related to fuel storage and recycling.  
He stated that the City’s Administrative Review Team and the Planning Commission recommend approval 
of this project. 
 
Jim Butler, representing PEA, clarified that there is no manufacturing done at this facility.  Nancy Lurch, 
representing AM General, confirmed that it is a prototype R&D technologies.  All manufacturing is done 
down south. 
 
Mr. Knight commented that they have proprietary military related designs. He expressed concern with the 
security of the facility from a police standpoint.  Ms. Lurch stated that in order to keep a certain level of 
clearance with the Department of Defense, they have many guidelines that they must adhere to and part 
of their build-out plan is how they keep items secure.   
 
Mr. Kittle questioned if the height of the fence would be an issue due to the variety of vehicles that may be 
parked there.  Ms. Lurch explained that they have taken it into consideration and do not believe it will be an 
issue when the vehicles are positioned. 
 
Moved by Knight, Seconded by Burmeister: 

RESOLVED: To accept the Planning Commission’s recommendation and approve the 
Special Land Use Permit for the outside storage of vehicles for AM General subject to staff 
and consultants’ conditions 

VOTE: Yes:  Burmeister, Hammond, Kittle, Knight, McDaniel, Mitchell, Verbeke 
  No: None 
Resolution No. 17.05.087       Motion Carried (7 - 0) 



 
 
 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER: Planning Commission Chairperson Ouellette called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
2. ROLL CALL:   Present:  Beidoun, Burmeister, Ouellette, Mendieta, Pederson, Pierce 
     Absent:  Hitchcock, Ochs, Shearer 

     Also Present:  Assistant City Planner Keenan and Recreation Director Marzolf 
    Guests:  13 

 
Location:  City Council Chamber, 1827 N. Squirrel Roads, Auburn Hills, MI  48326 
 
5. PETITIONERS 
 
5a. AM General (7:03 p.m.) 

Public Hearing/Motion - Recommendation to City Council for Special Land Use Permit approval for the 
outside storage of vehicles. 

 
Mr. Keenan introduced the request from AM General for Special Land Use Permit approval to allow the outside 
storage of vehicles.  The business is located at 1399 Pacific Drive on a 10 acre parcel zoned I-1, Light Industrial 
District.  The site will serve as home to their new engineering, advanced technology and prototype development 
center, where they will manufacture heavy duty military and civilian vehicles.  In 1994 the Haden company was 
granted a special land use permit for outside storage however the permit does not transfer, which is why AM 
General is here today. 
 
The proposed outside storage area is approximately 30,180 square feet in size.  To address the first key issue 
of assuring the Fire Lane remains clear, the boundaries of the outside storage area will be outlined with a two-
foot wide black line.  To further assure the Fire Lane remains clear of items, it will be striped with yellow paint 
labeled “No Parking Fire Lane”.   
 
To address the second key issue of screening the outside storage area, an eight-foot high vinyl fence along a 
portion of the south and east property line.  The building will also provide screening of the outside storage area 
for motorist traveling along Pacific Drive and I-75.  The applicant will be able to go into more detail on what will 
be stored outside.      
 
The third issue relates to the fuel storage tank and recycling operation.  The applicant is proposing a 2,000 
gallon above ground fuel storage tank and dumpsters for recycling to the east of the vehicle storage area.  The 
size of the fuel tank will require the applicant to obtain an Industrial Stormwater Permit from the MDEQ, as might 
the recycled material operation.  The permit will require AM General to develop a Stormwater Pollution 
Prevention Plan.  The applicant has provided a letter stating they will comply with all applicable Federal and 
State regulations and provide the City with a copy of their Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan.  
 
AM General’s new facility on Pacific Drive will be home to their new engineering, advanced technology and 
prototype development center, where they will manufacture heavy duty military and civilian vehicles.   
Mr. Jim Butler of PEA, Inc, 2430 Rochester Court Suite, 100, Troy, MI, 48083 and Ms. Kathleen Doherty of 
AM General 12200 Hubbard St, Livonia, MI, 48150 were present to take questions. 
 
Mr. Butler stated that the dumpsters for waste and recycled materials will be enclosed a masonry wall and with 
gates.  There will also be an above ground fuel storage tank that will be screened by the eight foot high vinyl 
fence along the south and east property line.  He also stated that there will be some vegetation to help with the 
visual appearance and screening of the property. 
 
Mr. Keenan added that there is currently a row of mature evergreen trees on the property that will stay and help 
to maintain a positive visual appearance. 

 

Excerpt 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

MINUTES 
May 10, 2017 

 
 



Auburn Hills Planning Commission  
May 10, 2017 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 
Ms. Doherty stated that the purpose for the eight foot high vinyl fence is to help screen the military vehicles, 
Humvees, trailers and possible other vehicles. 
 
Mr. Burmeister questioned the need to screening along the East side. 
 
Mr. Keenan clarified that the screening is to help with the visual appearance along I-75 and more importantly for 
the residents along Taylor Road.   
 
Mr. Beidoun questioned the conditions from the Fire Marshall to ensure safety on the property. 
 
Mr. Keenan clarified that the Fire Marshall wants to ensure accessibility around the building is maintained 
should there be any reason for the Fire Department to respond.  The striping should help assure the fire lane will 
be kept clear.  Mr. Keenan stated that AM General went above and beyond with the safety on this property.  
 
Mr. Ouellette asked for clarification regarding the traffic patterns and security for the outside storage.  
 
Ms. Doherty stated that some contents will be kept confidential due to the nature of the project however there 
will be secure gates that will be monitored.  There will be no assembly on this property, which will take place at 
another location out of State.   
 
Mr. Ouellette also questioned the items that will be recycled on this property.   
 
Ms. Doherty clarified that any materials that will be recycled will be done per regulations.  She also stated that 
the only recycling on this property will be done for the materials on this property. 
 
Mr. Ouellette opened the Public Hearing at 7:16 p.m. 
Hearing no comments, Mr. Ouellette closed the Public Hearing at 7:16 p.m. 
 
Motion made by Mr. Mendieta to recommend to City Council approval of the Special Land Use Permit for 
the outside storage of vehicles for AM General subject to staff and consultants’ conditions. 
Supported by Mr. Beidoun. 
 
VOTE:  Yes: Beidoun, Burmeister, Ouellette, Mendieta, Pederson, Pierce 
  No:  None        Motion Carried (6-0) 
 
 
 
 

 
 





 

   

 

MEETING DATE:  NOVEMBER 16, 2023 AGENDA ITEM NO 5b. 

 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

To:  Chairperson Greg Ouellette and the Planning Commission 
From: Steven J. Cohen, AICP, Director of Community Development 
Submitted: November 9, 2023 
Subject: 3295 Lapeer Road West Industrial Building 

Public Hearing / Motion – Recommendation to City Council for Site Plan and Tree 
Removal Permit approval 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
This is a request from Auburn Hills Realty 
Ventures, LLC, to construct a 149,170-square-
foot light industrial building at 3295 Lapeer Road 
West, which is located at the terminus of Lapeer 
Road West, south of the M-24 Connector.  The 
19.79-acre parcel is zoned I-1, Light Industrial 
District.   
 
The proposed building will be a speculative 
facility intended for a single or duplex tenant, 
offering space for office, warehouse, and light 
assembly operations. 
 
It is noted that a similar-sized speculative light 
industrial facility called the Palace Technology 
Center was previously approved by the City 
Council for the site on June 4, 2001.  However, 
that project stalled after the property was mass-
graded and prepared for development due to the 
economic shock and slowdown caused by the 
September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks.   
 
  

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

Site Location 

Rendering of the Proposed Industrial Building – View from the Site Entrance 

SITE 



Page 2 
 
 
INTRODUCTION (cont.) 
Auburn Hills Realty Ventures, LLC will be the developer of this new project, and once completed, they 
intend to lease the building.  The cost to construct the proposed building is estimated at $18.7 million.  
The company intends to begin construction in Summer 2024, with completion in Fall 2025. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Illustrated Site Plan 

Proposed Project Overlaid on Aerial Photo 

PROPOSED 
BUILDING 



Page 3 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Please be advised that this project has been reviewed by the City’s Administrative Review Team and 
has received a recommendation for approval. 
 
We recommend Conditional Approval of the Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit and offer the following 
discretionary findings of fact: 
1. The Site Plan contains sufficient basic information required by the Zoning Ordinance for a 

recommendation. 
2. The requirements of Section 1815, Items 7A-7E of the Zoning Ordinance can be met as follows: 

a) All requirements and standards of the Zoning Ordinance, and other City Ordinances, can be met. 
b) Safe, convenient vehicular and pedestrian ingress/egress has been depicted; primary access will 

be to Lapeer Road West. 
c) Traffic circulation features within the site and the location of parking areas avoid common traffic 

problems and can promote safety. 
d) A satisfactory and harmonious relationship will exist between the proposed development and 

surrounding area. 
e) The proposed use will not have an unreasonable, detrimental or injurious effect upon the natural 

characteristics of the subject parcel, or the adjacent area. 
3. Based on the project’s total square footage, 198 parking spaces are required, and 264 parking spaces 

are depicted. 
4. The parking layout meets minimum requirements, and barrier-free parking spaces are provided 

(seven spaces are required, and eight spaces are provided).  Two spaces are van accessible.  
5. Building and parking setback requirements will be met. 
6. Greenbelts will be provided. 
7. Landscape requirements will be met, and calculations have been submitted.    
8. A note indicates that exterior lighting shall meet the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance.  Pole 

and wall-mounted lighting shall be shielded and directed downward.  Lamp bulbs and lenses shall 
not extend below the light fixture shields.  Light poles shall not exceed 25 feet in height from the 
finished grade. 

9. A note indicates that signs shall meet the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance.   
10. A note indicates that parking spaces shall be double-striped. 
11. Ground-mounted and roof-mounted mechanical equipment will be screened.   
12. A note indicates that no outside storage will be allowed, including pallet storage, overnight vehicles, 

or trailer storage. 
13. A Tree Removal Permit is required.  406 replacement trees are required (9 new trees + 397 trees 

from the 2001 approval), and 253 replacement trees are proposed.  Auburn Hills Realty Ventures, 
LLC has elected to pay $58,140 (153 trees x $380 per tree) into the City’s Tree Fund for the required 
replacement trees not planted due to lack of space on the site. 

Tree Removal Permit History: 1366 replacement trees were required for the site when the 
original project was approved in 2001. 969 trees were paid into the Tree Fund by the previous 
developer before the mass grading of the site in 2001. Thus, 397 replacement trees are still 
required for the site (297 trees on-site + 100 trees previously proposed off-site along Lapeer 
Road West).  Note:  It has been agreed by all parties that the off-site tree planting, originally 
envisioned in 2001, is not feasible along Lapeer Road West (private road) due to property 
ownership, vegetation, and utility conflicts. 

 



Page 4 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION cont. 
14. No pathway or sidewalk connection is required in this location per the City’s Parks and Recreation 

Master Plan. 
15. Auburn Hills Realty Ventures, LLC has agreed to prepare the parking lot for two electric vehicle 

charging stations.  They will install electrical stubs at planned station locations and will run conduits 
from the power source to the stubs at the time of construction to support the future installation of 
the charging stations when needed. 

 
Conditions: 
1. Auburn Hills Realty Ventures, LLC agrees to meet the requirements of Article XX Administration and 

Enforcement, Section 2007.  Performance Guarantees.  
2. Auburn Hills Realty Ventures, LLC agrees to pay $58,140 into the City’s Tree Fund prior to the start of 

construction. 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
“Move to recommend to City Council approval of the Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit for 3295 Lapeer 
Road West Industrial Building subject to the conditions of the City’s Administrative Review Team.” 
 
 
 





   

 

Planning Commission  
Public Notice 

 
 

Meeting Date, Time, and Location: 
 

Thursday, November 16, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 
City of Auburn Hills - Council Chamber 
1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 

Project Name: 3295 Lapeer Road West Industrial Building 
 

General Property Location: 3295 Lapeer Road West 
Sidwell No.14-11-126-005 
 

Applicant: Christopher Cousino, Auburn Hills Realty Ventures LLC – 586-254-2040 
 

Nature of the Request: Recommendation to City Council for Site Plan and Tree Removal Permit 
approval to construct an industrial building. 
 

City Staff Contact: Steven J. Cohen, AICP 
Director of Community Development - 248-364-6900 
 

 

Notice will be sent via U.S. Mail to properties within 1,000 feet of the site.  The proposed application is 
available for inspection prior to the meeting at the Community Development Department, located in the 
municipal campus at 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills, MI 48326, during regular City business hours. 
 
Persons wishing to express their views may do so in person at the meeting or in writing addressed to the 
Planning Commission c/o Steven J. Cohen, AICP, Director of Community Development at the above address. 
 
Anyone planning to attend the meeting who has need of special assistance under the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk's Office at 248-370-9402 or the City Manager's Office 
at 248-370-9440 - 48 hours prior to the meeting.  Staff will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements. 
 

 

 
 

LOCATION MAP 

SITE 



 
 
 

OHM Advisors® 
2365 PONTIAC RD, SUITE 201 

AUBURN HILLS, MICHIGAN 48326 
T 248.751.3100 

F 248.287.4201 OHM-Advisors.com 

 

November 7, 2023 
 
 
Mr. Steven Cohen, AICP 
Director of Community Development 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
1827 North Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326 
 
 
RE: 3295 Lapeer Road West Industrial Building  
 Site Plan 1st Review  
 
 
Dear Mr. Cohen: 
 
We have completed the site plan review for the above referenced project with respect to grading, paving, storm 
drainage/detention, and availability of municipal utilities to serve the site.  The site plan, received by this office on 
November 3, 2023, was prepared by Nowak & Fraus Engineers.  The review comments are noted below. 
 
PERMITS: 
Various permits will be required for this site, including but not limited to the following: 
  

 Soil erosion permit from O.C.W.R.C. 
 N.P.D.E.S. permit from E.G.L.E. 
 Water main extension permit from E.G.L.E. 
 Wetland construction permit from E.G.L.E. 
 Floodplain Letter of Map Change from F.E.M.A. 
 Drain crossing permit from O.C.W.R.C. 
 Temporary grading easement from adjacent property owner  

 
GENERAL: 
The site is located at 3295 Lapeer Road West, south of the I-75/M-24 interchange, in Section 11 of the City of 
Auburn Hills.  The applicant is proposing to construct an approximate 150,000 sq. ft. industrial building that will 
consist of approximately 18,000 sq. ft. of office space and 132,000 sq. ft. of shop/warehouse space.  The new 
facility will house a single tenant or dual tenant in the automotive or related industry.  The site along with the 
adjacent properties to the south and east are zoned Light Industrial (I-1).  A complete legal description of the 
parcel is shown on the plan.  The City of Auburn Hills Standard Notes and Fire Department Notes are included 
on the plans.  A landscape plan was included in the plan set and appears to be acceptable.  Furthermore, a soil 
erosion and sedimentation control plan is needed for engineering review.  
 
It should be noted that this parcel was previously mass graded for a development around 20 years ago, but the 
development was never completed.  As part of that process, a conservation easement was placed over the western 
(currently wooded/wetland) area of the site as well as the southern portion of the site, south of the Galloway 
Drain.  The current proposed development does not appear to impact these conservation easements; however, 
several small wetland areas will be impacted, as indicated on the plan.  The wetland impacts will require a permit 
from E.G.L.E. and mitigation accordingly.  In addition, a portion of the site is located within the 100-year 



City of Auburn Hills 
3295 Lapeer Road West Industrial Building 
November 7, 2023 
Page 2 of 3 

 

floodplain for the Galloway Drain.  The plans indicate a new proposed 100-year floodplain location, which will 
require a Letter of Map Change (LOMC) from F.E.M.A. 
 
MUNICIPAL UTILITIES: 
There is an existing 8-inch water main that extends along the east side of Lapeer Road West.  The applicant is 
proposing to connect to the stub north of the existing gate valve and extend new water main northwest onto the 
site.  It should be noted that the proposed water main will cross the Galloway Drain and a permit from 
O.C.W.R.C. will be needed for this crossing.  From there, new water main will loop around the proposed building.  
Eight (8) fire hydrant assemblies are proposed to provide adequate coverage for the site.  Fire suppression and 
domestic service lines are proposed to extend north from the new water main to the southeast side of the building.  
The size and material type of the proposed water main shall be labeled for engineering review.   
 
There is an existing 21-inch sanitary sewer that extends along the west side of the adjacent parcel to the east.  The 
applicant is proposing to construct a new manhole over the existing sanitary sewer and extend a new sanitary 
sewer lead to the east side of the building.  The size, material type, and slope of the proposed sanitary sewer lead 
shall be labeled for engineering review.  
 
STORM SEWER AND DETENTION: 
The site is located in the Galloway Drainage District, which has a maximum discharge rate of 0.097 cfs/acre.  The 
Galloway Drain extends along the east and southern portion of the site.  Storm water runoff for the site will be 
collected via a series of catch basins and routed to a forebay and detention basin at the west side of the site.  The 
detention basin will then outlet to the existing wetland area on the west portion of the site, and ultimately flow to 
the Galloway Drain.  Preliminary proposed detention calculations were provided on the plan and appear to meet 
City requirements.  Additional details of the stormwater management system will be needed for the engineering 
review including storm sewer calculations, profiles, and hydraulic grade lines.  The size, material, and slope of the 
storm sewer shall be labeled for engineering review.  
 
TRAFFIC/PAVING: 
Access to the site consists of one (1) existing approach off Lapeer Road West.  Parking is located to the north, 
east, and west of the proposed building.  The plans indicate concrete curb and gutter throughout the site with 6-
inch concrete pavement proposed for the parking spaces and 8-inch concrete pavement proposed for the drive 
aisles, loading area, and dumpster pads.  Concrete pavement for light industrial sites shall be 8-inch concrete on an 
approved base.  Additional cross-sections for the concrete sidewalk and approach off Lapeer Road West shall be 
provided for engineering review.   
 
The applicant is proposing 264 parking spaces including 8 barrier free accessible parking spaces and 2 future 
electric vehicle parking spaces.  A loading area with truck wells is located at the south side of the building.  Two (2) 
dumpster enclosures are proposed at the southwest corner of the parking lot.  A 7-foot-wide concrete sidewalk has 
been provided along the north, southeast, east, and west sides of the building providing access to the parking lot.  
An auto turn analysis for the Auburn Hills Ladder Truck and a Single Unit Truck has been included in the plan set.   
 
GRADING: 
Existing and proposed grades are shown with contours and spot elevations.  The site is sloped towards the east 
and south sides of the parcel.  Slopes exceeding 1:4 are proposed on the east, south, and west sides of the site.  
Perimeter site slopes appear to match into existing contours prior to all abutting property lines.  The proposed 
forebay and detention basin slopes exceed 1:6 and are proposed to be enclosed with a 4-foot high ornamental 
fence.  Pavement slopes are mostly consistent with City standards and are to remain between 1% and 6% for drive 
areas and between 1% and 4% for parking areas.  Sidewalk slopes shall comply with ADA standards.   
 



City of Auburn Hills 
3295 Lapeer Road West Industrial Building 
November 7, 2023 
Page 3 of 3 

 

There are no retaining walls proposed as part of this project; however, retaining walls may be needed at 
engineering review for areas where the slope exceeds 1:4.  Design details and computations (sealed by a licensed 
engineer) will need to be submitted and approved during the engineering review for walls greater than one (1) foot 
in height.  Any retaining walls over 2.5 feet in height are required to be fenced and the retaining wall detail shall 
include the fence.    
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The site plan is in substantial compliance with City of Auburn Hills requirements, and has been stamped 
“Approved” by our office.  We ask that the site plan approval acknowledge the following: 
 

1. The site improvement plan, designed in accordance with Ordinance No. 806, shall be submitted to 
the City for review and approval prior to construction.  A detailed cost estimate for the improvements 
shall be submitted with the plans signed and sealed by the design engineer. 

2. The developer must post a performance guarantee, in accordance with the City’s requirements as set 
forth in the City of Auburn Hills Ordinance No. 372, Section 2007, Performance Guarantees. The 
estimate of the guarantee shall be submitted with the site improvement plan and must reflect all costs 
for site improvements, including but not limited to mass grading, roadways, lighting, utilities, 
pathways, sidewalks, screening, landscaping, driveways, retaining walls, parking lots, drainage, 
stormwater retention basins, and other similar features.  

 
If you have any questions or are in need of any further information, please feel free to contact our office. 
 
Sincerely, 
OHM Advisors 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
MaryKate Kirksey for Hannah Driesenga, P.E. 
 
 
Transmitted via e-mail to Steven Cohen: November 7, 2023 

cc: File 
 
P:\0101_0125\SITE_AUBURNHILLSCITY\2023\0120231200_3295 LAPEER ROAD WEST\_SITE\3295 LAPEER ROAD_SITE 
REV#1_APP.DOCX 



  
 
 

                                                   
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Steve Cohen, Director of Community Development 
FROM:  Jeremy Stubbs, Lieutenant  
DATE:  October 20, 2023  
SUBJECT:  3295 Lapeer Road    
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
I have reviewed the site plans for 3295 Lapeer Road.  We have no objections to the project as presented in 
the site plans.   
 
 

POLICE DEPARTMENT 
1899 North Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, MI  48326  
 

    
 



1899 N SQUIRREL ROAD – AUBURN HILLS, MICHIGAN 48326 – (248) 370-9461 
 

 

   
 
 

 

Official Memorandum 
 
 
To: Steve Cohen, City Planner/Director of Community Development 
From: Fred Solomon, Fire Inspector 
Date: October 24, 2023 
Re: Site Plan Review PSP230011 
 
 
PROJECT:  3295 Lapeer West 
 

XXX Approved  
 Approved Subject to the following revisions: 

 Denied  
 
 
No Comments 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Fred Solomon 
Fire Inspector 
Auburn Hills Fire Department 
 
  
 
 
 
 

AUBURN HILLS 
FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 
 

 



Site Specific, Inc. 

Site Specific, Inc. 
JULIE STACHECKI, ISA Certified Arborist MI-0650, TRAQ, MI Oak Wilt Qualified 

Howell, MI 48843 w 810.599.0343 w stachec1@me.com 
 

1 

November 3, 2023 
 
Steve Cohen, Director Com. Dev. 
City of Auburn Hills, Community Development Department 
1827 North Squirrel Road 
Auburn Hills, MI 48326 
 
Subject:  Woodlands Ordinance Review for 3295 Lapeer West Road, Auburn Hills, MI 
 
Dear Mr. Cohen, 
 The submittals regarding the above-mentioned project were reviewed and a site visit made 
to correlate information. This site was cleared of trees/mass graded in 2001. At that time, removed 
trees were partially compensated for by paying into the City’s Tree Fund (1366 replacement trees; 
969 trees paid into Tree Fund; Balance 397). The current project is responsible for the balance of 
trees removed from site and a small number of newly inventoried trees. See the tree detail chart 
below regarding the proposed project.  

TREE REQUIREMENT TABLE – EV Parts Assembly, Distribution & Office Facility  
DESCRIPTION  TOTAL TREES Required/REPLACEMENT 

TREES 

Total Trees Surveyed (2023) 114 (15 off site) --- 

Removed Regulated Trees 403 (6 current + 397 from 2001) 403 

Removed Landmark Trees 2023 - 1  (1 current Landmark tree Total of 
25.3“ DBH) 

3 

Removed Non-regulated Trees 92 0 

Saved Regulated Trees 0 0 

TOTAL Req. Replacement Trees    406 Trees  

  
Applicant is responsible for 406 regulated/replacement trees.  One tree being removed is a 
Landmark tree and replacement is compensated for in the 406 total replacement tree figure. The 
landscape plans provide 253 trees.  The balance of 153 required replacement trees will be paid 
into the City’s Tree Fund to satisfy the Woodlands Ordinance as follows: 153 replacement trees 
x $380 = $58,140.  This project is approved based on the landscape design and Tree Fund 
fulfillment stated above.  
 
Best regards, 
 
Julie Stachecki  
City of Auburn Hills Woodland Consultant 
 





149,170 TOTAL

85,222 63,948

7,072
56,876

Total:

Office:
Shop / Warehouse:

10,652
74,570

Total:

Office:
Shop / Warehouse:

UNIT A UNIT B

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X

X X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

S0
3°

28
'13

"E

S88°18'28"W

1199.24'(R) 1,202.90'(M)

76
2.

33
'(R

) 7
62

.1
9'

(M
)

1,085.58' (R&M)N81°06'12"E

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X

X

X

X
X

X

E

G
AS

GA
S

GA
S

ST
M

ST
M

S
T

M
S

T
M

S
T

M
S

T
M

S
T

M
S

T
M

S
T

M
S

T
M

S
T

M
S

T
M

S
T

M
S

T
M

S
T

M
S

T
M

S
T

M
S

T
M

S
T

M
S

T
M

S

S

S

7707

7742

VA
N

VAN

VA
N

VAN

PROPOSED
ONE-STORY
BUILDING
149,232 S.F.

PROPOSED
DETENTION







 

 

 

EXCERPT 



 
 

 



Planning Commission - May 24, 2001 
Page 1 of 3 

EXCERPT 
CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
 

           May 24, 2001 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Chairperson Beckett called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:   Present. Beckett, Beidoun, Cooper, Hurt-Mendyka, Marien, McKissack, 
      Ouellette, Schoonfield, Spurlin 
    Absent. None 
    Also Present.  City Planner Cohen 
                            Councilperson Sendegas 
      TIFA Chairperson Bennett 
      38 Guests 
 
LOCATION:  Civic Center, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills MI 48326 
 
PETITIONERS 
 
SP 01-06, Palace Technology Center 
(Sidwell No. 14-11-126-005) 
Mr. Beckett presented the request for approval to construct a 149,887 sq. ft. industrial building on 
property zoned I-1, Light Industrial district.  The property is generally located at the terminus of West 
Lapeer Road, south the M-24 Connector. 
 
Mr. Cohen reviewed his letter dated May 18, 2001 with the following recommendations: 
 

We are recommending Approval of the Site Plan and offer the following discretionary findings of 
fact: 
1.   The Site Plan contains sufficient basic information required by Zoning Ordinance No. 372 for 
a recommendation. 
2.   The requirements of Section 1815, Items 7A-7E of Zoning Ordinance No. 372 can be met as 
follows: 
 A) All requirements and standards of the Zoning Ordinance, and other City Ordinances, can      
be met. 
 B) Safe, convenient vehicular and pedestrian ingress/egress has been depicted; primary  
 access will be to West Lapeer Road.   
 C) Traffic circulation features within the site, and the location of parking areas, avoid                   
common traffic problems and can promote safety. 
 D) A satisfactory and harmonious relationship will exist between the proposed development  
 and surrounding area. 
 E) The proposed use will not have an unreasonable, detrimental or injurious effect upon the  
 natural characteristics of the subject parcel, or the adjacent area. 
3.   Based upon the number of employees and floor area 289 parking spaces are required and 
293 parking spaces are depicted.   
4.   The parking layout meets minimum requirements and parking spaces are provided for the  
handicapped (8 are required and 8 are provided).  One van accessible space is also provided. 
5.   Building, parking, and dumpster setback requirements will be met.   
6.   Greenbelts will be provided.   
7.   Landscape requirements will be met and calculations have been submitted.   
8.   Loading/unloading area will be met.   
9.   A note indicates lighting will be provided at 1/4 lumen per sq. ft. of parking. 
10. A note indicates that signs shall meet the requirements of Zoning Ordinance No. 372. 
11. A note indicates that parking spaces shall be double striped. 



Planning Commission - May 24, 2001 
Page 2 of 3 

12. All roof-mounted and ground-mounted mechanical equipment will be screened.  
13. A note indicates that there will be no pallet storage, overnight vehicles, or trailer storage. 
 

Mr. Cohen brought to the attention of the Planning Commission that almost one quarter of a million 
dollars would be contributed to the tree fund because there is not adequate space to replace all of the 
trees that need to be removed from the site. 
 
Mr. Christopher Burton, Burton-Katzman Development, explained a 150,000 square foot building is 
being proposed to be built on 13 of the 19 acres.  The remaining six acres are wooded wetland that will 
help to retain the natural beauty and character.   
 
Ms. Marien asked for an explanation on what an "M" type approach is as stated in the letter from OHM. 
Mr. Al Hargis, Giffel-Webster Engineers, explained the MDOT curb section will be constructed on Lapeer 
Road West, a concrete section that has a gutter pin that runs across the edge of the existing drive with a 
curb return on either side, and then filled with black top. 
 
Replying to Mr. Ouellette, Mr. Burton stated there wasn't a user for this building as of yet and they are 
hoping for a single user.   
 
Ms. Hurt-Mendyka asked for assurance from Mr. Burton that there would be no need for any variances 
with regards to the signage for the building. 
 
Mr. McKissack asked if there was a mitigated area where the construction is to take place.  His concern is 
the abundance of wildlife that will be affected by the construction.  Mr. Woody Held, King - McGregor 
Environmental, explained there is about a half acre of wetland impact proposed with this project and there 
is currently an application submitted to the MDEQ, with a meeting scheduled to discuss the issues related 
to the wetlands and the flood plains.  Regarding the wetland mitigation, Mr. Held continued saying it 
hasn't been discussed with the State yet, but there is an opportunity on this site to mitigate for the lost 
wetlands in an area where they are doing a compensating cut for the flood plain fill. Mr. Held explained 
the area adjacent to the west side of the development is essentially to compensate for the fill that is being 
placed in the flood plain, to lower the area to the same grade as the adjacent wetland area.  Further, if 
wetland mitigation is to be required, this area would be ideal.  Mr. McKissack questioned why the tree 
replacement isn't indicated on the site plan even though dozens and dozens of protected trees will be 
removed.  Mr. Cohen explained tree replacement and tree removal are reviewed by the Environmental 
Review and their recommendation is sent to the City Council.  Mr. Cohen continued saying approximately 
1,003 trees will be removed and 297 will be replaced back on site, with another 100 trees being planted 
along Lapeer Road West.  The balance of the trees won't fit on the property so they are recommending a 
contribution of almost a quarter of a million dollars into the tree fund.  The ERB is very pleased with the 
plan and has recommended approval.   
 
Ms. Marien asked for clarification on wetland mitigation and how the State would benefit as opposed to 
the City.  Mr. Held said typically mitigation is creating new wetlands to replace what was filled and lost.  
Continuing, Mr. Held explained generally you take an area of higher ground that is not wetland, and make 
it lower so you are able to move wetland plants and soils into that new area.  Mr. Cohen stated OHM 
required the mitigation for the City, even though MDEQ may not think it is necessary. 
 
Mr. Ouellette asked if the natural flow of the Aimee drain would be disrupted.  Mr. Held explained the flow 
is roughly 510 cfs through the ditch, under I-75, with a culvert under the drive to allow the flow to stay at 
the same elevation as the 100 year storm that was determined by MDEQ.   
 
Mr. Spurlin questioned the ratio of the mitigation.  Mr. Held stated the ratio could be as high as 1.6 to 1.  
 
Mr. Beidoun questioned of the untouched six acres, what portion is wetlands.  Mr. Held believed it to be 
5.41 acres. 
 



Planning Commission - May 24, 2001 
Page 3 of 3 

Ms. Hurt-Mendyka asked if the remaining wetland portion could be dedicated as a conservation 
easement.  Mr. Held believed MDEQ was in favor of the conservation easement as was he.   
 
Mr. McKissack asked if the natural environment would be maintained along Aimee drain.  Mr. Harsig 
explained the only disturbance will be where the culverts are installed at the crossing, but the natural 
environment will be maintained.  Ms. Marien questioned if the trees and bushes would be removed along 
the creek.  Mr. Harsig explained only those at the crossing and only trees in the path of construction are 
being removed.   
 
Mr. Burton hoped to start construction as soon as possible.   
 
Mr. Ouellette questioned if this was just part of a larger development.  Mr. Burton stated he owns nothing 
contiguous to this parcel. 
 
Mr. Ouellette moved to recommend to City Council approval of SP 01-06, Palace Technology Center 
(Sidwell No. 14-11-126-005), the request for approval to construct a 149,887 sq. ft. industrial building on 
property zoned I-1, Light Industrial district.  The property is generally located at the terminus of West 
Lapeer Road, south the M-24 Connector. This is to include discretionary findings of fact found in Mr. 
Cohen's letter dated May 18, 2001 and all applicable City consultants and agencies. 
Supported by Mr. Schoonfield. 
VOTE:   Yes:  Beckett, Beidoun, Cooper, Hurt-Mendyka, Marien, McKissack, Ouellette,  
            Schoonfield, Spurlin 
   No:   None. 
          Motion Carried (9-0) 
 



EXCERPT 
 

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW BOARD 

        May 23, 2001 

CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Kresnak called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m. 

ROLL CALL:  Present:           Kresnak, Parent, Peters, Rowe                                
         Absent:               Harvey-Edwards, Ostrowski, Zellen                                                                                
   Also Present:       Steve Cohen, City Planner                                                                                                                    
        7 guests 

LOCATION: Civic Center, 1827 N. Squirrel Road, Auburn Hills 48326 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
SP01-06 Palace Technology Center 
Public hearing was opened at 6:36 p.m. with the request for recommendation to City Council for tree 
removal permit approval to facilitate the construction of a 149,887 square foot industrial building on 
property zoned I-1, light industrial.  The property is generally located at the terminus of West Lapeer Road 
between I-75 and M-24 connector.  Mr. Cohen referenced his memo dated May 17, 2001: 
 
Attached is a report from Woodlands Consultant Brian Colter, ACRT Inc.dated May 15,2001 related to the 
above mentioned project. Mr. Colter has conducted an on-site inspection to confirm plan correctness and 
recommends approval of the submittal. 
 
The petitioner proposed to remove 1310 protected trees (32 landmark trees).  The applicant also 
respectfully requests a credit for 6 saved trees.  If the request for credit is granted, then a total of 1366 
replacement trees are required for the project (see attached). 
 
The applicant proposed to plant 297 replacement trees on site.  All replacement trees will meet the size 
and diversity of requirements of the City of Auburn Hills Woodland Preservation Ordinance. 
 
The applicant has requested in a letter dated May 14, 2001 to bank or set aside 100 trees for future 
landscaping off-site along West Lapeer Road with the condition that monies be placed into the City Tree 
Fund if the trees are not planted within 1 year (see attached).  We have no objection and have encouraged 
this request.  The applicant shall submit a landscape plan for ERB review prior to planting the 100 trees.  
 
Lastly, due to lack of space on site, the applicant has agreed to pay $242,250.00 (1069 trees-100 banked 
trees = 969 trees x $250.00*) into the City Tree Fund. 
 
After the public hearing, if you find your questions satisfactorily answered it would be appropriate 
to move to recommend to City Council approval of a tree removal permit for the SP01-06, Palace 
Technology Center subject to the collection of $242,250.00 to be deposited into the City Tree Fund 
and the allowance of 100 replacement trees to be banked for future off-site planting per conditions 
of the applicant's letter dated May 14, 2001. 
 
Chairman Kresnak and Mr. Cohen discussed that the 100 trees planted will be on private property and the 
petitioner needs to make agreements with the owners to plant along the road.  Chairman Kresnak feels the 
petitioner should be acknowledged by the city in appreciation for their efforts and complying with the 
ordinance in regards to the monies going into Tree Fund. Mr. Cohen clarified for Mr. Parent that the 
recommendation would be the money be paid up front upon approval by City Council. Chairman Kresnak 
called for the petitioner's presentation.  Mr. Christopher Burton, Assistant Project Manager for Burton 
Katzman Development, 30100 Telegraph Road, Ste. 366, Bingham Farms, MI  48025 introduced Mr. 
Larry Goss, Vice President of Burton-Katzman Development, Mr. Al Argas and Mr. John Turbstroft from 
Giffel-Webster Engineers.   They are planning on building a 150,000 square foot light industrial building to 



be located on 13 of the 19 acres on-site.  The remaining 6 acres will be kept in its natural wooded beauty 
and character. 
 
When questioned by Chairman Kresnak Mr. Argas responded that a little less than one third of the acreage 
is wetlands. 
 
Mr. Peters requested verification that the 100 banked trees will be planted into a close proximity to Palace 
Technology Center.  Mr. Burton stated they have spoken to their neighbors regarding improving West 
Lapeer Road and hope to line the road with trees on both sides for a more dramatic entrance. 
 
Mr. Cohen stated that the diversity requirements will be met and the 100 trees would be considered a 
separate project which will need to be approved by this board and City Council within one year. 
 
Chairman Kresnak stated the board appreciates their effort and commitment to the preservation of the 
woodlands.  
 
Chairman Kresnak opened the floor for statements from the audience at 6:51 p.m. 
 
Public hearing was closed on SP01-06, Palace Technology Center at 6:52 p.m. 
 
Mr. Peters moved to recommend to City Council approval of a tree removal permit for SP01-06, Palace 
Technology Center subject to the collection $242,250.00 to be deposited into the City Tree Fund and the 
allowance of 100 replacement trees to be banked for future off-site planting subject to the conditions of the 
applicants letter dated May 14, 2001. 
Supported by Mr. Parent 
 
VOTE:   Yes:   Kresnak, Parent, Peters, Rowe. 
   No:   None     
   Motion carried (4-0) 
 



NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION



TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY NOTES

MISS DIG / UTILITY DISCLAIMER NOTEBENCHMARK DATA

SURVEY NOTE:

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION



TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY NOTES

MISS DIG / UTILITY DISCLAIMER NOTEBENCHMARK DATA

SURVEY NOTE:

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION



11

20

16

20

20

20

14
16 15

16 11

12

13

14

18

18

10

10

GENERAL NOTES

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION



11

20

16

20

20

20

14
16 15

16 11

12

13

14

18

18

10

10

GENERAL NOTES

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION





FIRE DEPARTMENT NOTES





NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

STANDARD NOTES

UTILITY NOTES



UTILITIES

DEWATERING OF TRENCH AND EXCAVATIONS

MEANS AND METHODS FOR PIPE CONSTRUCTION

PAVEMENT REMOVAL

SUB-SOIL CONDITIONS

SUBGRADE UNDERCUTTING AND PREPARTION

STRUCTURE BACKFILL

TRENCH BACKFILL

EARTH BALANCE / GRADING

SOIL EROSION / SEDIMENTATION CONTROL

GENERAL PAVING NOTES

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION



NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION



N

N



N

N



N

N



A-1

Project:

Client:

Date Issued:

Sheet Title:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

Project Number:

Sheet Number:

Issue:

3295 Lapeer Rd.

FRANK SALAMONE ARCHITECT INC.  ALL
RIGHTS RESERVED. THESE PLANS AND DRAWINGS
ARE OWNED BY AND THE SOLE PROPERTY
OF FRANK SALAMONE ARCHITECT INC.  ANY
REPRODUCTION, COPYING, REUSE OR DISTRIBUTION
OF THESE PLANS AND DRAWINGS IS STRICTLY
PROHIBITED WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN
CONSENT OF FRANK SALAMONE ARCHITECT INC.

275 West Girard
& Development Co.
Kemp Building

Madison Hts, MI 48071

Auburn Hills, MI

2 4 7 8 96

B

C

D

E

F

A

1 3 5

B

C

D

E

F

2 4 7 8 96

1/32" = 1'-0"floor plan

North

building data

fire suppression system note:

allowable area:
Type IIB Construction:

149,170 TOTAL

85,222 63,948

7,072
56,876

Total:

Office:
Shop / Warehouse:

10,652
74,570

Total:

Office:
Shop / Warehouse:

UNIT A UNIT B

truckwells



A-2

24789 6 135

1/16" = 1'-0"north (front) elevation 

B C D E FA

1/16" = 1'-0"west (side) elevation 

BCDEF A

1/16" = 1'-0"south (front) elevation 

2 4 7 8 961 3 5

Project:

Client:

Date Issued:

Sheet Title:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

Project Number:

Sheet Number:

Issue:

3295 Lapeer Rd.

FRANK SALAMONE ARCHITECT INC.  ALL
RIGHTS RESERVED. THESE PLANS AND DRAWINGS
ARE OWNED BY AND THE SOLE PROPERTY
OF FRANK SALAMONE ARCHITECT INC.  ANY
REPRODUCTION, COPYING, REUSE OR DISTRIBUTION
OF THESE PLANS AND DRAWINGS IS STRICTLY
PROHIBITED WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN
CONSENT OF FRANK SALAMONE ARCHITECT INC.

275 West Girard
& Development Co.
Kemp Building

Madison Hts, MI 48071

Auburn Hills, MI

roof top screening detail
no scale

NOTE Signage Calculation:

Signage

1/16" = 1'-0"east (side) elevation 

Signage

NOTE



Meetings are held the first and third Monday of each month.

8 22 1 15
5 19 12 26
4 18 9 23
1 15 7 21
6 20 11 25
3 17 2

10 17
7 14
6 11
3 9
8 13
5 11

11 12 10
16

16 16
20 20
19 17
16 15
21 19
18 17

9 9
12 10
14 12

March
May

July

November 
September 

Meetings are held the second Tuesday, quarterly
Administrative Conference Room

Council Chamber

PLANNING COMMISSION – 7:00 PM
Council Chamber

CITY OF AUBURN HILLS
2024 MEETING SCHEDULE

1827 N. Squirrel Rd., Auburn Hills MI 48326 
CITY COUNCIL – 7:00 PM

April October

January July
February August
March September

June

August
January July
February
March
April
May

September

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY – 5:30 PM

January 

June December

January July
February August
March September

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY – 6:00 PM
Meetings are held the third Tuesday of each month.

Administrative Conference Room

April October
May November

October
November
December

May November
June December

March
July

December 

Meetings are set by appointment with the Assessing Office
BOARD OF REVIEW 

Meetings are held Tuesday after the third Monday



27 27
28

13 11
12 11

9 9
13 13
12 * 10
9 8
14 12
11 10

11 11
8 8
14 12
11 10
9 14
13 12

NOTE: Anyone planning to attend the meeting who has need of special assistance under the Americans 
Disability Act (ADA) is asked to contact the City Clerk's Office at 370-9402 or the City Manager's Office at
370-9440 48 hours prior to the meeting.  Staff will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements. 

Please see the monthly Meeting Schedule posted outsite City Hall located at 1827 N. Squirrel Road for any 
updates or changes.  Changes will also be posted on the City website at www.auburnhills.org

LIBRARY BOARD  – 7:00 PM
Meetings are held the second Monday of each month. 

 They are their own entity

PUBLIC SAFETY ADVISORY COMMITTEE – 5:00 PM 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY – 4:00 PM
Meetings are held the second Tuesday of each month.

Administrative Conference Room

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS – 7:00 PM
Meetings are held the second Thursday of each month.

Council Chamber

February
May

August

PENSION COMMITTEE/RETIREE HEALTH CARE BOARD – 3:00 PM
Meetings are held the second Wednesday of March, June, September and December

Administrative Conference Room

July
February August
March September

June December
March September

April October
May November
June December

January July
February August
March September

April October
May November
June December

January 

Meetings are held the fourth Tuesday in February, May, and August
Public Safety Community Room



 

 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

1200 N. Telegraph Road 

Pontiac, MI 48341-0475 
Phone:              (248) 858-0100 

Fax:                  (248) 858-1572 

 
October 19, 2023 
 
Brent Savidant, Community Development Director   
City of Troy 
500 W. Big Beaver R., 
Troy, Michigan 48084 
 
Dear Mr. Savidant, 
 
On Tuesday, October 17, 2023, the Oakland County Coordinating Zoning Committee (CZC) held a meeting and 
considered the following Master Plan Update: 

 
City of Troy Master Plan Update  

(County Code Master Plan No. 23-03) 
 

The Oakland County Coordinating Zoning Committee, by a 3-0 vote , endorses the Oakland County Economic 
Development, Planning & Local Business Development’s staff review of the Master Plan Update. The staff review 
finds the proposed Master Plan changes to be not inconsistent with adjacent communities of Bloomfield 
Township, the City of Birmingham, the City of Clawson, the City of Madison Heights, the City of Rochester Hills, the 
City of Royal Oak in Oakland County as well as the City of Sterling Heights in Macomb County and the oblique 
(corner) communities of the City of Auburn Hills in Oakland County, Shelby Township, and the City of Warren in 
Macomb County. A copy of the staff review is enclosed. 
 

***Please Note: The CZC meeting date as stated in the original review was moved to October 17th in lieu of 
October 25th due to a scheduling conflict and potential issues with having a quorum. *** 

 
The proposed DRAFT Plan Troy 2040 (Master Plan) is available through the City of Troy’s website.  Adjacent 
communities and other reviewing jurisdictions have been copied and are listed on the back of this letter.  Please 
contact the City of Troy regarding the final adoption process. 
 
If further documentation is necessary regarding the CZC meeting, the official minutes of the October 17, 2023, 
meeting will be available following the next scheduled CZC meeting on November 8, 2023.  Draft meeting 
minutes are available upon request. If you have any questions regarding the review, please do not hesitate to 
contact me directly at (248)858-0389 or krees@oakgov.com. 
  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Scott E. Kree | Senior Planner 
Oakland County Economic Development 
Planning & Local Business Development  
 
 
(CC’d recipients are listed on the next page) 

https://cms6.revize.com/revize/citytroymi/Departments/Planning/Master%20Plan/CityOfTroy_MasterPlan2040_2023-8-25%20(1).pdf
mailto:krees@oakgov.com


 
CC: Gwen Markham, Oakland County Commissioner, CZC Chair 
 Yolanda Smith Charles, Oakland County Commissioner, CZC Vice-Chair 
 Phil Weipert, Oakland County Commissioner, CZC Member 

Dave Woodward, Oakland County Commissioner, District 1 
Penny Luebs, Oakland County Commissioner, District 2 
Gary McGillivray, Oakland County Commissioner, District 3 
Benjamin Carlisle, Planning Consultant at Carlisle | Wortman & Associates for the City of Troy 
Stephen Cohen, City of Auburn Hills Community Development Director 
Nicholas Dupuis, City of Birmingham Planning Director 
Patricia Voelker, Bloomfield Township Director of Planning, Building & Ordinances   
Nik Stepnitz, City of Clawson Director of Community Development / Assist. City Mngr. 
Giles Tucker, Madison Heights Economic & Community Engagement Supervisor  
Sara Roediger, Rochester Hills Planning Manager 
Joseph Murphy, City of Royal Oak Planning Director  
Jake Parcell, City of Sterling Heights City Development Manager / Assistant City Planner 
Ronald Wuerth, City of Warren Planning Director  
Julijana Misich-Rasawehr, Shelby Township Planning Director 
Vicky Rowinski, Macomb County Director of Planning & Economic Development 
Brad Knight, RCOC Director of Planning & Environment  
Dan Butkus, WRC Engineering Technician, Plan Review & Permitting Unit 
Cheryl Bush, Oakland County Manager Aviation & Transportation 
Lori Swanson, Oakland TSC-MDOT Manager 
Adelaide Pascaris, ITC Area Manager 
Jennifer Whitteaker, DTE Regional Manager 
Lauren Royston, Consumers Energy Community Affairs Manager 
Michael Spence, SEMCOG Administrator of Governmental Affairs 
CN Rail 

 



 
 
 
 
 

OAKLAND COUNTY EXECUTIVE DAVID COULTER 
 

Scott E. Kree | Senior Planner  
Office: (248) 858-0389 | krees@oakgov.com 

 

2100 Pontiac Lake Road  | Building 41W  |  Waterford, MI 48328  | Fax (248) 452-2039 | AdvantageOakland.com 

 
October 7, 2022 
 
Commissioner Gwen Markham, Chairperson 
Oakland County Coordinating Zoning Committee 
1200 North Telegraph Road 
Pontiac, MI 48341 
 
SUBJECT: County Code No. MP 23-03, Oakland County Department of Economic Development, Division of 

Planning & Local Business Development’s staff review of the draft Plan Troy 2040 Master Plan 
Update. 

 
Dear Chairperson Markham and Committee Members: 
 
On September 6, 2023, the Oakland County Department of Economic Development (OCED), Division of Planning 
& Local Business Development (PLBD) received a mailed letter from the City of Troy (dated August 29, 2023) that 
initiated the review and comment period for the proposed Draft Plan Troy 2040 Master Plan Update, (County 

Code Master Plan No. 23-03). Under the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, Oakland County, adjacent 
municipalities, and other jurisdictional authorities have 63 days to submit comments on Master Plan updates.   
 
This review of the Draft Master Plan will go before the Oakland County Coordinating Zoning Committee (CZC) on 
October 25, 2023, which falls within the community’s specified comment period. It is assumed that adjacent 
communities were notified about the proposed Draft Master Plan and review period by the City of Troy. The Draft 
Master Plan can be found at: CityOfTroy_MasterPlan2040_2023-8-25(1).pdf 
 
Staff Recommendation 

 
Based on the review of the surrounding communities’ master plans, the Draft Plan Troy 2040 Master Plan is not 

inconsistent with the plan of any city, village, or township that received notice of the draft plan. Oakland County 
has not prepared a countywide development plan, so there is no countywide plan with which to compare the 
draft amendment. Following is an analysis and summation of the Draft Master Plan update.  
 

Select Summary Analysis of Content 

 

The information included herein represents a summarized analysis of the proposed draft Plan Troy 2040 Master 
Plan. Select sections are highlighted in this review with a focus on changes to borderline conditions and future 
land uses. County Planning staff last reviewed changes to the community’s Master Plan in 2016.  The existing 
Master Plan is referenced as the 2015 plan which was adopted in 2016.  Due to Troy being a mostly “built-out” 
community, much of the proposed document continues to promote relevant goals and objectives from past 
Master Plans. The City of Troy shares a border with seven (7) adjacent communities which include Bloomfield 
Township, the City of Birmingham, the City of Clawson, the City of Madison Heights, the City of Rochester Hills, the 
City of Royal Oak in Oakland County as well as the City of Sterling Heights in Macomb County. Additionally, three 
(3) communities have oblique (corner) shared borders which include the City of Auburn Hills in Oakland County, 
Shelby Township, and the City of Warren in Macomb County. The City of Troy is currently the largest populated 
city in Oakland County and shares borders with some of the largest populated communities in the State of 
Michigan.  
 
 
 

https://cms6.revize.com/revize/citytroymi/Departments/Planning/Master%20Plan/CityOfTroy_MasterPlan2040_2023-8-25%20(1).pdf


Page 2 of 6 

Public Engagement 
The city held targeted public input opportunities for the Master Plan update per the information provided in 
Chapter 1.  The plan also continues to utilize and reference relevant data gathered from past public 
engagement and community participation sessions of 2008 through 2015, including the Troy Vision 2020 
documented information. The public engagement opportunities conducted in 2021 through 2022 were focused 
on the visions and policies for the “Neighborhood Nodes” that have been present and established in past plans. 
Per the Community Participation portion of Chapter 1 (page 16/ 9 pdf), online and paper surveys were made 
available to residents and stakeholders. Input was gathered from over 1,650 participants in the spring of 2021. 
Additionally, the city offered six (6) specific walking tours called Neighborhood Node Walk & Talks. The information 
gathered included aspects of the “Nodes” density, design, zoning, inclusion of open spaces, environment, and 
landscaping.  A Steering Committee with a focus on the “Nodes” of the City was created and consisted of four 
(4) members of the Planning Commission that met three (3) times throughout the Master Plan Update process to 
review and report on the outcome and findings of the public engagement process related to the Nodes.  
 
Transportation, Infrastructure & Sustainability 

The automobile and the road system promoted 
the expansive growth of the City of Troy starting 
in the 1960’s.  Transportation continues to be an 
important topic for the city which is prominent 
throughout the proposed Master Plan and the 
plans that came before it.  The city maintains 
multiple modes of transportation (automobile, 
air, rail) and transportation hubs, notably the Troy 
Transit Center.  The Thoroughfare Plan, promoted 
in Chapter 5, addresses mobility needs and 
utilizes access management, complete streets, 
non-motorized systems, and transit-oriented 
development/hubs as goals in connecting 
residents and workers to a regional system for 
unlimited and unrestricted access. The Big 
Beaver Corridor Study continues to support cross-
plan discipline within the draft Master Plan as it is 
referenced many times. The city continues to 
maintain over 500 miles of sidewalks and 364 
miles of road in cooperation with the Road 
Commission for Oakland County (RCOC).  The plan promotes the continuation of the city’s ongoing participation 
in Faster And Safer Travel Through Routing and Advanced Controls (FAST-TRAC) through the RCOC and its 
involvement with the Suburban Mobility Authority of Regional Transit (SMART) as the SMART Oakland Terminal is 
located within the City of Troy. 
   
The plan continues to promote and protect infrastructure through investment, coordination, and innovation. 
Water quality efforts promoted in Chapter 6 of the plan feeds into the environmental sustainability portion of the 

plan in Chapter 7. The plan has updated the capacity and services utilized 
through the Detroit Water and Sewage Department (DWSD).  Since 2015, the 
miles of water main in the city has increased from 500 to 550 miles of pipe. 
Additionally, the number of fire hydrants have increased from 5,300 to 6,100 
and the number of water meters have grown from 26,000 to 29,000.   The plan 
promotes coordination with the DWSD, Oakland County Drain Commissioner, 
and State of Michigan. Water quality remains important to the city in its efforts 
to provide safe and healthy services. 
 
In support of infrastructure protection, quality and maintenance of these 
systems, the plan promotes sustainable growth through defined “Low Impact 
Development” (LID) which respects the preservation and enhancement of 
existing natural features while supporting urban and brownfield 

redevelopment.  Redevelopment initiatives include transportation options (as identified in Chapter 5), green 
building designs, urban form/neighborhood design, waste water reduction, sustainable design, EV charging 



Page 3 of 6 

options, and adaptive reuse. An emphasis on Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) Green 
Building Rating System continues to be a tool the city uses for new or revitalization projects. Changes in office 
building use following the Covid-19 Pandemic have created flexibility in adaptive reuse options for the city and 
property owners. Troy and Southfield have the most office square footage available in Oakland County. Starting 
in late 2022, Troy is in the process of completing or approving multiple projects that rehabilitate existing, empty 
office buildings to residential apartments, condos, and other mixed uses along the Big Beaver Corridor.  The 
flexibility in the future land use plan and the opportunity to utilize built structures, which keeps materials out of 
landfills while helping to provided more missing middle housing (per Chapter 8), promotes sustainability, and will 
benefit the city of Troy well into the future.     
     
Land Patterns  
Chapter 9 Land Patterns: City Design and Image, continues to expand the forecast of future land uses to nodes, 
corridors, and sections, rather than as site specific. However, within each area there remain future development 

guides, goals, and objectives as to how the plan intends to shape select 
areas throughout the city.  The proposed Future Land Use (FLU) plan, 
when compared to the FLU plan of 2015-2016, has few changes. There 
are no proposed changes to future land uses at any of the city’s borders 
or the description of the land uses that are adjacent to any other 
community as shown on the provided maps. However, there has been 
a reduction from 21 to 15 identified “Neighborhood Nodes” at major 
intersections.  The proposed FLU Map and Neighborhood Maps are 
provided to the right and above (Chapter 9, pg. 86-87/44 pdf and pg. 
93/47 pdf).  
 
A majority of the objectives, facts, and design concepts have remained 
unchanged as compared to the 2015-2016 plan, however, information 



Page 4 of 6 

has been expanded to be more inclusive of other use types that align with growth patterns and lessons learned 
in the fallout of the pandemic.    
 
The plan has taken the opportunity to focus on select nodes with modeled concepts that promote 
sustainable/affordable housing options through density and mixed-use developments while incorporating design 
attributes and guidelines. Most notably at the Long Lake Rd. / Dequindre Rd. west side of the intersection (Node 
#G) and Long Lake Rd./John R. Rd. intersection (Node #H) are promoted within the Master Plan.  

 
Special Area Plans 

Chapter 10, Special Area Plans had few changes when compared to the 2015-2016 plan.  The “Big Beaver 
Pedestrian” target area has been eliminated from the Special Area Plan section because  many of the 2015 
objectives have been implemented while other items have been captured in parts of Chapter 9 under the Big 
Beaver Road: A World Class Boulevard and The Smart Zone: Big Beaver and Beyond sections that are located in 
Chapter 9.   Other Special Area Plans include a 1-mile section of the Rochester Road corridor, the Maple Road 
corridor from Coolidge Hwy to John R. rd., and an area identified as “North Troy” consisting of the Long Lake 
Rd./Crooks Rd. and Interstate 75 area.  
   
These “Special Area Plans” remain unchanged. Priorities surround pedestrian access, traffic safety, and place 
making.  The action plans and implementation strategies remain relevant as some of these specific project areas 
are currently and remain on a trajectory to follow the plan.  Portions of these areas have realized the plan while 
the other areas within them are still pursuing goals and objectives set forth by this section.   
 
Recommendations 

 
As a function of this review, staff make recommendations in an effort to strengthen the plan so it can be further 
utilized as a tool for the community. The following recommendations for the Draft Master Plan are listed below: 
 



Page 5 of 6 

1. Update Census information and dated measurables. The ”City of Troy Facts” have been updated to 
reflect 2020 Census information but other areas in the plan have not been updated: 

a. Confirm figure 3.1 has not changed (Chapter 3 pg. 28/15 pdf)  
b. Consider using recent target/market area statistics and property/industry data in each of the 

Special Area Plans within Chapter 10.  Most information is unchanged from the 2015 plan 
consisting of information from 2013 and 2015. This includes Oakland County Land Use/Property 
Data which was last updated in 2022.  Please include the latest data by visiting:     
https://www.oakgov.com/community/community-development/planning-services/current-and-
future-land-use-maps-and-statistics for the most recent information.   

c. Reference the most current census information available and update the data provided under 
the “Oakland County” portion of Chapter 4 (pg. 45/23 pdf).  
 

2. Incorporate the following recommendation to enhance Chapter 5 
City in Motion: Local and Regional Mobility:  

a. Correct conflicting information regarding number of SMART 
fixed service routes in the city “over 54” (under Existing 
Conditions: Transit pg. 49/25 pdf) as compared to SMART 
providing “over 41” fixed route services (SMART pg. 51/26 pdf). 

b. Consider adding information pertaining to SMART’s recently 
approved additional route(s) and stops, particularly along the 
Rochester Road corridor within the City of Troy (see map at 
right).  Such serviced route(s) would start service in January of 
2024.  Coordinate with SMART staff to incorporate and update 
information pertaining to SMART services. SMART has 
additional information relevant to the City of Troy at: 
https://www.smartbus.org/Services/Services-By-
Community/Troy  

c. Add Oakland County Transit information pertaining to the 
approved 2022 Oakland County Public Transit Millage, 
programs, and resources that could be useful tools for the 
city’s Master Plan. More information can be found at: 
https://www.oakgov.com/community/oakland-transit   
 

3. Add Michigan Natural Features Inventory (MNFI) information in the 
draft Master Plan. In 2017, MNFI prepared an update to the county-
wide data/maps. The City of Troy has designated Priority II and Priority 
III areas within the city limits which could help promote the plan’s efforts to preserve the City’s existing 
natural features and promote the sustainability initiative as defined in Chapter 3 and supported in 
Chapter 7,  Green City: Responsibility to Natural & Energy Resources.  Most of the areas in the MNFI data 
are located along waterways or related to floodplains that are part of the Gibson Drain, Lane Drain, or 
Ferry Drain systems that are tributaries to the Clinton River.  Additionally other sites are located along the 
River Rouge watershed tributaries and floodplains within the city.  Oakland County has online tools where 
MNFI Maps can be created: https://oakgov.maps.arcgis.com or please contact our staff if assistance is 
required in producing a map for the draft Master Plan. 
 

4. Change the name of the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ), which is referenced in 
the proposed plan to the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes and Energy (EGLE) as the 
State of Michigan changed that department’s name in 2019.  
 

5. Incorporate the following recommendation to enhance Chapter 9 & Chapter 10: 
a. Future Land Use Categories labeled 75 through 103 do not correspond with the plan’s numbering 

system or page numbers (Chapter 9: pg. 83/42 pdf). 
b. Update the Neighborhood Nodes maps located throughout the plan (Chapter 9: pg. 89/45 pdf, 

Chapter 10: pg. 130/66 pdf and maps in Chapter 10 associated with the Maple Road Special Plan 
Area) to accurately account for the number of neighborhoods nodes and locations.  

c. Reorganize, reference and/or change placement of “Neighborhood Node” renderings in the 
Neighborhood Nodes: The Economic Neighborhood and High Density Residential : Housing 

https://www.oakgov.com/community/community-development/planning-services/current-and-future-land-use-maps-and-statistics
https://www.oakgov.com/community/community-development/planning-services/current-and-future-land-use-maps-and-statistics
https://www.smartbus.org/Services/Services-By-Community/Troy
https://www.smartbus.org/Services/Services-By-Community/Troy
https://www.oakgov.com/community/oakland-transit
https://oakgov.maps.arcgis.com/


Page 6 of 6 

Choice sections of Chapter 9. Computer generated renderings of select intersections that are  
titled: Design Attributes / Guidelines for Neighborhood Node “G” and “H” and the “City Gateway” 
renderings do not reference or directly correlate with text/maps before or after the renderings.  

d. Correct numbering issues pertaining to Gateways, Assets, Opportunities, and Challenges on maps 
for the Rochester Road: Special Area Plan (Chapter 10: pg. 70/138-139 pdf), Maple Road: Special 
Area Plan (Chapter 10: pg. 79/156-157 pdf), and North Troy: Special Area Plan (Chapter 10: pg. 
95/188-189 pdf). 
 

6. Incorporate a hazard mitigation plan or elements that could be used in a hazard mitigation plan. Oakland 
County’s PLBD staff is making a deliberate effort to encourage communities to consider the natural and 
manmade hazards and associated risks to communities and integrate their hazard mitigation priorities 
and strategies into their Master Plans, when applicable. This is particularly relevant for hazard mitigation 
related to infrastructure, utilities, natural features, major assets, and historic districts/structures that may be 
added to the City’s Capital Improvement Program if applicable or may represent FEMA (Federal 
Emergency Management Agency) eligible projects. Through FEMA, communities may be eligible for 
nationally competitive, annually awarded Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities (BRIC) and 
Flood Mitigation Assistance (FMA) grants for planning and project work. Communities responding to and 
recovering from major disasters or emergencies declared by the President are also eligible for Public 
Assistance (PA) Funds for emergency work and permanent infrastructure projects. Mitigation opportunities 
resulting from declared disasters, specifically through the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP), are 
a source of potential funding following major disaster declarations. The 2017 Oakland County Hazard 
Mitigation Plan is available online through the County’s Homeland Security webpage at:  
https://www.oakgov.com/community/emergency-management/need-to-know/disaster-
planning/hazard-mitigation-plan. 
 

7. Oakland County’s Neighborhood & Housing Development Division has created tools that could 
strengthen the City of Troy’s goals to improve and continue to offer a diversified housing stock while  
promoting diversity and inclusion in the city’s housing efforts. Please go to Oakland County’s 
Neighborhood & Housing Development website: https://www.oakgov.com/community/neighborhood-
housing-development for more information. 

 
 

Oakland County Technical Assistance 

A summary of programs offered by the Oakland County Economic Development Department that are relevant 
to the City of Troy has been included on the final page of this review.  
 
Oakland County Technical Resources 

Oakland County compiles existing and future land use statistics for the county as a whole and for each 
community using generalized land use definitions. These documents are included as reference and to provide a 
snapshot of the City’s existing land use and development patterns.  
 
Conclusion Summary 

 
The draft Plan Troy 2040 Master Plan remains an all-encompassing and very complete document. The City of Troy 
remains one of the busiest cities in the county.  The population continues to grow, which coincides with the City’s 
ability to attract prominent businesses and keep standards of high education levels state-wide.  The Master Plan 
continues to emphasize the need for pedestrian safety, neighborhood place making with use of nodes, safe and 
reliable transportation options/availability, and a preservation/protection of the natural features the City has.  
The plan is well written and has obtainable goals with the incorporation of other Troy Plans listed throughout.  
Information regarding stakeholders and the support provided through the public input sessions adds value to the 
plans vision and direction for the City of Troy.  
 
Oakland County does not have a Planning Commission or County Master Plan, so a full comparison and contrast 
of the information to County-wide Plans is not possible.  Our staff review of the proposed Master Plan and a 
cursory review of adjacent communities’ Master Plans have found the City of Troy’s Draft Plan Troy 2040 Master 
Plan to be not inconsistent with those plans. 
 

https://www.oakgov.com/community/emergency-management/need-to-know/disaster-planning/hazard-mitigation-plan
https://www.oakgov.com/community/emergency-management/need-to-know/disaster-planning/hazard-mitigation-plan
https://www.oakgov.com/community/neighborhood-housing-development
https://www.oakgov.com/community/neighborhood-housing-development


Page 7 of 6 

Troy has received a copy of this review. Additional copies have been emailed to adjacent municipalities and 
other reviewing jurisdictions for their review and/or comments.  On October 25, 2023, this review will go before 
the CZC which will consider a motion on the recommendation of the submitted draft Master Plan. If there are 
any questions or comments about this review and analysis, please do not hesitate to contact me at (248) 858-
0389 or email me at krees@oakgov.com.   
 
Respectfully, 
 

 
 

Scott E. Kree | Senior Planner 
Oakland County Department of Economic Development 
Planning and Local Business Development Division   
 

CC:  Yolanda Smith Charles, Oakland County Commissioner, District 17 & CZC Vice-Chair 
Phil Weipert, Oakland County Commissioner, District 13 & CZC Member 
Dave Woodward, Oakland County Commissioner, District 1 
Penny Luebs, Oakland County Commissioner, District 2 
Gary McGillivray, Oakland County Commissioner, District 3 
Brent Savidant, City of Troy Development Director  
Benjamin Carlisle, Planning Consultant at Carlisle | Wortman & Associates for the City of Troy 
Stephen Cohen, City of Auburn Hills Community Development Director 
Nicholas Dupuis, City of Birmingham Planning Director 
Patricia Voelker, Bloomfield Township Director of Planning, Building & Ordinances   
Nik Stepnitz, City of Clawson Director of Community Development / Assist. City Mngr. 
Giles Tucker, Madison Heights Economic & Community Engagement Supervisor  
Sara Roediger, Rochester Hills Planning Manager 
Joseph Murphy, City of Royal Oak Planning Director  
Jake Parcell, City of Sterling Heights City Development Manager / Assistant City Planner 
Ronald Wuerth, City of Warren Planning Director  
Julijana Misich-Rasawehr, Shelby Township Planning Director 
Vicky Rowinski, Macomb County Director of Planning & Economic Development 
Brad Knight, RCOC Director of Planning & Environment  
Dan Butkus, WRC Engineering Technician, Plan Review & Permitting Unit 
Oakland County Airport 
Lori Swanson, Oakland TSC-MDOT Manager 
Adelaide Pascaris, ITC Area Manager 
Jennifer Whitteaker, DTE Regional Manager 
Brandon Hofmeister, Consumers Energy Senior VP of Government 
Michael Spence, SEMCOG Administrator of Governmental Affairs 
CN Rail 
 

 
 
  

mailto:krees@oakgov.com


Page 8 of 6 

Oakland County Planning Resources  

The Oakland County Department of Economic Development (OCED), Division of Planning & Local Business 
Development (PLBD) offers a variety of programs to support Oakland County communities with innovative 
programming and assistance to create attractive destinations in which to live, work and raise a family. The chart 
below details those programs offered by the PLBD (a division of the OCED). Current participation in these 
programs and opportunities for future involvement are noted on the right side of the chart. Additional information 
on all OCED programs can be found at www.oakgov.com/advantageoakland. 
 

Program Mission City of Troy’s Opportunities and  

Current Participation 

Environmental 
Stewardship 

Provide information, plans 
and options to promote 
conservation of the natural 
environment while 
supporting sustainable 
economic growth, 
development, and 
redevelopment. 

The City of Troy supports development that is cognizant 
of natural resource protection and management.  
County staff members are able to act in a supporting 
capacity with grant application identification, open 
space protection, and sustainable development 
practices as requested. 

Historic Preservation 
Assistance 

Support local efforts to 
maintain and enhance 
architectural and heritage 
resources through 
sustainable practices to 
enrich the quality of life for 
all. 

County staff is able to assist with potential design 
concepts for adaptive reuse of any historic structures 
within the community. 

Land Use & Zoning 
Services 

Prepare and provide land 
use, zoning, and Master Plan 
reviews for communities to 
enhance coordination of 
land use decision-making. 

The City of Troy continues to send Master Plan Updates 
and Amendments to the County for review fulfilling the 
legislative requirements. Other coordination services are 
available upon request. 

Trail, Water & Land 
Alliance (TWLA) 

Become an informed, 
coordinated, collaborative 
body that supports initiatives 
related to the County’s 
Green Infrastructure 
Network 

The County fully supports the expansion of non-
motorized facilities and protection of the natural 
environment.  Oakland County can aid the community 
in non-motorized planning efforts through education 
and the identification of potential funding sources. 

Brownfield 
Redevelopment 
Authority (OCBRA)  

Provide assistance in the 
County’s Brownfield 
initiative to clean-up and 
redevelop contaminated 
properties  

The OCBRA can assist and coordinate with the State of 
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes and 
Energy (EGLE, formally MDEQ) along with the Michigan 
Economic Development Corporation (MEDC), as 
needed, in an effort to prepare designated brownfields 
for redevelopment with the County’s BRA.  

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C:\Users\krees\Documents\Office\CZC\Troy\22-09_CMP-SFLD_review1_Final.docx 

http://www.oakgov.com/advantageoakland















	AGENDA
	4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	September 13, 2023 PC Meeting Minutes 

	5. PETITIONERS
	5a. AM General
	MOTION
	Development Application - Part One / East Side
	Development Application - Part Two / South Side
	Public Notice
	AM General - Background Submittal Package for Request (5 PAGES)
	Cover Sheet
	Outside Storage Diagram
	General Site Plan
	Photos
	Letter regarding visibility from I-75

	Citizen Participation Letter
	Citizen Participation Response
	May 22, 2017 City Council Meeting Minutes Excerpt
	May 10, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Excerpt
	May 22, 2017 AM General SLU Permit Plan for Outside Storage

	5b. 3295 Lapeer Road West Industrial Building
	MOTION
	Development Application
	Public Notice
	Engineering Review Letter
	Police Review Letter
	Fire Review Letter
	Woodlands Review Letter
	Citizen Participation Letter
	Citizen Participation Response
	June 4, 2001 City Council Meeting Minutes Excerpt
	May 24, 2001 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Excerpt
	May 23, 2001 Environmental Review Board Meeting Minutes Excerpt
	SITE PLAN (16 PAGES)
	Cover Sheet
	Survey - Survey Part One
	Survey - Survey Part Two
	Dimensional Site Plan
	General Site Plan
	Zoning Plan
	Fire Truck Access Plan
	Semi Truck Access Plan
	Engineering Site Plan
	Notes and Details
	EV and Lighting Notes
	Tree Preservation Plan
	Landscape Plan
	Landscape Notes and Details
	Floor Plan
	Building Elevations



	8. COMMUNICATIONS 
	Y2024 City of Auburn Hills Meeting Schedule
	Oakland County Review of City of Troy Master Plan Update
	MDOT Flyer Explaing HOV Lanes on I-75
	APA-MI Recognition of Steve Cohen as a 30 Year Member


